2001

John Leach v. Norma B. Anderson and Valley Bank and Trust Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of the efforts of the plaintiff to collect on a judgment against the defendant, Norma Anderson, from assets which were placed in trust with defendant, Valley Bank and Trust Company. The trust was created prior to the date of judgment and prior to the transaction on which the judgment is based. Plaintiff asserts that the trust is void under Utah statutes prohibiting conveyance of personal property in trust to defeat the claims of creditors.

The facts center upon the execution of a promissory note, which is Exhibit 1-P [R-140], by the Angi Corporation and payable to the plaintiff. The note was signed by David B. Anderson, who is the son of defendant, Norma B. Anderson. Norma B. Anderson also signed as guarantor. Angi Corporation defaulted and the plaintiff obtained judgment against Norma B. Anderson.

The promissory note was dated April 15, 1969. Five months prior to that date, on November 12, 1968, Norma B. Anderson created a trust with defendant, Valley Bank and Trust Company. Mrs. Anderson's purposes in creating the trust were twofold:

1. Mrs. Anderson is unable to resist the demands of her son, who had a drinking problem, and who caused her to invest in his improvident business ventures [R-158 and Findings of Fact No. 2].
2. Mrs. Anderson desired to protect her other children and her estate and required professional management because of her improvidence and inexperience.

The Bank officer who counselled her in the preparation of the trust and in many meetings prior thereto corroborated these reasons [R-180-85 et seq].

Plaintiff was unable to satisfy his judgment against Norma B. Anderson's personal assets and he brought this action to recover against the assets of the trust.

The complaint is in two causes of action. The first cause of action was based on the theory that defendant, Norma B. Anderson, defrauded the plaintiff in relation to the presentation of the July 1968 financial statement. Count I was dismissed by the court at the time of trial as being without support in the evidence. The court found that Mrs. Anderson had not given the financial statement to the plaintiff and that it was taken from her files without her knowledge. The promissory note was dated April 15, 1969, approximately one year after the date of the financial statement [July, 1968] and the plaintiff made no effort to verify the facts contained in the statement to determine the accuracy thereof or to run any credit checks of any kind [R-148-151].

Count II is based upon the theory that the trust is void as to the plaintiff under Section 25-1-11, Utah Code Annotated, which declares void trusts of personal property for the use of the trustor.

Rex Guymon, trust officer of the defendant Valley Bank and Trust Company testified concerning the trust, its assets, and payments from the trust. Mr. Guymon identified certain payments which had been made to Norma B. Anderson averaging \$928.54 per year [R-1F6]. Mr. Guymon established that the payments referred to were insignificant in proportion to the trust assets and that on occasions Mrs. Anderson had requested other payments which had been refused [R-182]. The only payment of any consequence -- the \$5,000 paid to protect her interest in the Chuck Wagon property -- was in reality a payment made to conserve the trust assets since the Chuck Wagon stock was also conveyed to and became a part of the trust estate [R-1F6].

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE STATUTE DOES NOT VOID TRUSTS IN WHICH THE TRUSTOR IS MERELY AN INCIDENTAL BENEFICIARY

Resolution of the plaintiff's claim requires careful application of *all* of the terms employed by the statute. The plaintiff cannot select those words which suit his

purpose and ignore other words which would preclude his claim. Plainly the statute must be construed in such a way that each word is given its intended meaning, and if that meaning is applied plaintiff's claim must fail.

A. *The statute applies only to trusts of personal property.*

By its own terms the statute applies only to "goods, chattels, or things in action made in trust." An examination of the trust instrument, which is in evidence, and the financial statement which the plaintiff claims misled him, will reveal that, in the main, this trust is composed of real property as to which the statute has no application whatsoever. The Utah Supreme Court has so held in *Geary v. Caine*, 71 Utah 268, 9 P. 2d 396, wherein the court stated:

"She says that the conveyance. . . in which he conveyed all of his property in this state to the corporation, . . . without consideration, comes squarely within the provisions of said section. But such position cannot be maintained. Section 5816 relates only to transfers of personal property, not real property, and hence has no application to the conveyance of the real estate here involved. It relates only to 'goods, chattels, or things in action', which in any sense of the terms are not real property."

The financial statement [Exhibit 2] clearly shows that almost all of the assets of any real or substantial nature that were transferred to this trust are real estate

or interests in real estate. Therefore, in order to sustain the District Court's decision, this Court will have to directly overrule the case law in the State of Utah, which represents the majority opinion in the United States.

B. The purposes of Norma B. Anderson's trust are not within the statute.

Even if the trust assets were of the type contemplated by the statute, the statute declares that its provisions apply only to trusts "for the use of the person making the same." The meaning of that phrase has never been defined by the Utah Supreme Court and in that sense this case is one of first impression. This Court must therefore look to the general law on the subject and the purposes of the statute itself.

As already noted, the statute is directed to the conveyances of personal property in such a way as to shield them from "existing or subsequent creditors of such person." It is, in simple terms, a statute directed at conveyances to defraud one's creditors. There is no evidence in this case that Mrs. Anderson had any such purpose in mind or, that, viewed from the time of its creation this trust would defraud creditors. In fact, the only testimony on the subject is Norma Anderson's statement that at the time of the conveyance she desired to protect herself from her son's improvidence, protect the interests of her other children and obtain good management of the assets. Mrs. Anderson further testified that she had retained in her own possession

ample assets which she believed would satisfy all of her known creditors as her claims matured:

“Q. Would you explain for the Court the reasons why you caused that trust instrument to be prepared and executed?

A. Well, I didn't seem to be able to refuse my son and he was wanting to open up so many Chuck Wagons and I really didn't want to get involved in them and I told him so but he just kept after me and kept after me to get money for this and money for that, to get into more and more Chuck Wagons and so, of course, my attorney wanted me to set up a trust so that I could refuse him so that, you know, I wouldn't - I couldn't go ahead and hand the money over to him which I was doing so that I could protect me and my children.”
[R-158]

The testimony of Rex Guymon, the bank officer, corroborated Mrs. Anderson's testimony and these facts were never disputed:

“Q. (By Mr. Biele) Thank you. Would you please state what she stated to you?

A. She said that her husband was killed in an accident in 1967 and that she had considerable problems as far as managing her affairs and needed administrative help from the bank and indicated that one of the main reasons that she wanted to set the trust up is to protect herself against an alcoholic son that was -- that was continually asking her for money and she

could not refuse those requests and so the trust consequently was set up under the advice of her attorney after --

Q. Were there any statements made to equalization of inheritance?

A. Yes. That was another reason why the trust was set up is because she had other children and other heirs to her estate and the way it was going her son, David, was receiving a share that was not -- would not be equal to the others and by putting it in an irrevocable trust this would insure her that the other children would get their proportionate share." [R. IF-4-5]

The true purpose of this trust, as is evident by its provisions [R-8F-98] (which are their own best evidence), is to conserve Mrs. Anderson's estate for the benefit of her children and grandchildren. This is evident from a reading of clauses IV and V of the trust, which contain three pages of detailed directions concerning the distribution of trust assets to Mrs. Anderson's heirs. There are also provisions for the maintenance of Mrs. Anderson during her life, but these are common provisions in such an estate planning instrument and could not be held to render the trust one "for the use" of Mrs. Anderson, within the meaning of the statute.

C. *As a matter of law the statute does not apply.*

What is more fundamental, however, is that the purpose of this trust was not "for the use" of the trustor within the meaning of that term in law.

To adopt the plaintiff's construction of the statute would mean that the settlor of a trust could never have any beneficial interest, even as an incidental beneficiary, or the entire trust instrument would fail. Not only is that an unfair and unreasonable construction of a statute, the obvious purpose of which is to prevent fraud of creditors, but neither is the construction that has been placed on similar statutes in other jurisdictions.

Thus *Restatement of Trusts*, 2d § 114 declares that the purpose of such statutes is to invalidate trusts which are for the *sole* benefit of the trustor:

“§114. The Settlor as Beneficiary

The Settlor of a trust may be one of the beneficiaries or the sole beneficiary of the trust

. . .

Illustrations

1. Statutes. In some states there are statutes which provide that a transfer in trust for the benefit of the settlor is void. *Such statutes are interpreted as sole benefit of the Settlor.* (Emphasis added.)

Such a construction is a sound one. Under any other construction the careless slip of a draftsman's pen (in which even a hypothetical interest of the settlor was retained) would have the effect of invalidating the entire trust. If this court were to adopt such a harsh reading of the statute it would, in truth, invalidate the

entire law of trusts. The extensive provisions of Utah law relating to the creation and interpretation of trusts, to which citations are necessary, attest that no such intention may be ascribed to the legislature.

POINT II

EVEN IF THE COURT WERE TO DETERMINE THAT APPELLANT'S TRUST IS SUSCEPTIBLE TO THE CLAIMS, THE RESPONDENT CAN ONLY REACH THAT AMOUNT THAT THE TRUSTEE UNDER THE TERMS OF THE TRUST COULD PAY TO THE APPELLANT OR APPLY FOR HER BENEFIT.

While the meaning and construction to be given the statement in UCA 25-1-11 are not entirely clear, the *underlying* policy is evident. Generally speaking, it is against public policy to allow a person to create for his own benefit an interest in property that cannot be reached by his creditors. On the other hand, it is equally evident that public policy would not permit one's creditors to reach property in which the debtor has no beneficial interest and is unable to use and enjoy.

Restatements of Trust 2d §156 states the general rule:

- “§156. Where the Settlor is a Beneficiary.
 (2) Where a person creates for his own

benefit a trust for support or a discretionary trust, his transferee or creditors can reach the maximum amount which the trustee under the terms of the trust could pay to him or apply for his benefit.”

The Anderson trust is a combination support and discretionary trust. Under the terms of the trust, the trustee “shall pay to or for the benefit of the grantor such portions of the income and principal of this trust as may be necessary to maintain the grantor in a reasonable standard of living after taking into consideration other income received by Grantor”. It is within the trustee’s discretion to make payments “as may be necessary”. The Trustee’s discretion is not absolute, however, Paragraph II of the trust agreement goes on to provide a guideline for the trustee in determining what is a reasonable standard of living. “In determining the standard of living to be maintained, the trustee shall use as a rule of guide the standard of living of the grantor of the date of the execution of this agreement. . .”

Applying the rule of §156(2) of the Restatement the maximum trust assets respondent would be able to reach would be the difference between the grantor’s income from other sources and the amount necessary to maintain a standard of living comparable to that which she enjoyed in November of 1968. Pursuant to the statute, Respondent would only be able to reach “goods, chattels, or things in action,” in order to satisfy his claim.

Case law reinforces this portion. *DiMaria v. Bank*

of *California National Association*, 23 Cal. App. 2d 254, 46 Cal. Rptr. 924 (1965) involved a situation similar to the instant case. In each case a widow with grown children has executed an irrevocable trust agreement transferring most of her assets to a bank. In each case the purpose of the trust was to free the trustor from the constant demands of her children. Each trust provided for certain distribution of the income to the trustor during her lifetime and the remainder to be distributed on her death to her children. Each provided that the trustee could apply for the trustor's benefit so much of the principal as the trustee deemed advisable if the income from other sources, should be insufficient to provide for the trustor's reasonable support. In the *DiMaria* case, the trustee's discretion is absolute, while as has been seen in the Anderson trust, the trustee's discretion is limited by certain guidelines.

In a creditors suit to declare that the corpus of the trust was subject to his claim, the court held the trustee was justified in refusing to pay the creditor's claim from the corpus of the trust in the absence of a showing under the terms of the trust agreement that the settlor's income from the trust and other sources was not sufficient for her reasonable support to authorize the exercise of trustee's discretion in invading the corpus for the settlor's benefit.

The court reasoned that to permit recovery from the corpus without showing an inadequacy of the trustor's income from other sources for her support would give

the creditor access to trust assets not reachable by the beneficiary nor payable to her within the sound discretion of the trustor. At 926:

“The general rule is that the creditor of a beneficiary under a trust has no more rights and can secure no greater benefits from a trust than the beneficiary himself.”

The *DiMaria* court distinguished *Ware v. Gulda*, 331 Mars 68, 117 NE 2d 137 (1954), and *Greenwich Trust Co. v. Tyson*, 129 Conn. 211; 27A 2d 166 (1942); on the grounds that they dealt with discretionary trusts in which the income and/or principal was payable to the settlor/beneficiary subject only to the *absolute discretion* of the trustee. The court pointed out that the trustee’s discretion over the payment of corpus is limited rather than absolute. “The corpus can be invaded only if the income therefrom, together with Mrs. Walton’s income from other sources, is insufficient to provide *reasonable* support, medical care and comfort. The discretion granted the trustee would clearly be abused by any arbitrary withdrawal not justified under this prescription.” At 926.

This holding should be applied to the facts of this case. If the Anderson trust is found to be subject to the respondent claims, the respondent may not receive greater benefits than Mrs. Anderson herself. Therefore, the Respondent would only be able to reach the amount of personal property equal to that amount necessary to maintain the standard of living which she was ac-

customed to in November 1968 minus the income Mrs. Anderson receives from outside sources. It is up to the court to ascertain the amount of trust assets subject to the respondents claim. *Scott on Trusts* §156. 1 p. 1197.

The Respondent may argue that the *DiMaria* case is distinguishable from the present case in that the Walton trust did not contain a spendthrift provision and California has not enacted a statute comparable to UCA 25-1-11. The fact that the Anderson trust contains a spendthrift provision should not affect an application of the holding in *Dimaria* to the facts of this case. Even if the spendthrift clause is held to be illegal as against the creditors of Mrs. Anderson, it has been held that this does not affect the validity of the other provisions of the trust. *Liberty National Bank v. Hicks*; 173 F2d 631 (1948), 9ACR 2d 1335.

The fact that there was no California statute similar to the Utah statute is not *fatal to this case*. UCA 25-1-11 deals with trusts "for the use of the maker." If it is held that this statute is applicable to the trust in question it may only be so as to the portions of the trust that are "for the use of the maker". Any other reading of the statute would serve to give the creditors of Mrs. Anderson greater rights and benefits in the trust property than she has for herself. This is contrary to the public policy underlying these statutes, *Scott on Trust*, §156 p. 1192-93.

This is especially so considering that the domi-

nating purpose behind the Anderson trust was not to avoid Mrs. Anderson's just obligations but rather to free herself from the constant demands of her son, David, and guarantee her other children a fair share of the estate she and her husband had developed over the years.

Since the Court has personal jurisdiction of Mrs. Anderson, it could order her, under pain of contempt and possible imprisonment, to pay any sums paid to her by the trustee to the creditor, and the court need not upset or modify the provisions of the trust agreement or change the law of many years standing.

POINT III

**SINCE THE GIFT WAS ABSOLUTE
AND THE TRUST IRREVOCABLE,
IT VESTED INTERESTS IN CHIL-
DREN AND GRANDCHILDREN AND
THE SUSTAINING OF THE DIS-
TRICT COURT WOULD DIVEST
THESE PARTIES OF A VALUABLE
RIGHT WITHOUT HEARING.**

Under the terms of the trust the proceeds are to be distributed to the children, grandchildren and great-grandchildren of Mrs. Anderson in accordance with fixed and described formulas. The trust was irrevocable. Mrs. Anderson retained no right to invade the trust principal.

The trust creates a "grandchildren's trust" which

is for the benefit of "all of the grandchildren of the grantor, including such grandchildren as may be born after the date of the establishment of the trust and until final distribution of the trust portion" which occurs ten (10) years after the last grandchild living at the date of the establishment of the trust has attained the age of twenty-two (22) years.

The grandchildren's trust provides for payments for health, hospital, medical, dental expenses, for religious education, college or technical education. These interests are vested! The parties owning said interests are not represented in this case. Is it the policy of the court to take from yet unborn children or from parties not represented before the court their vested interests?

Since this trust is for the benefit of many persons other than Mrs. Anderson and would continue for many years, it is obvious that the spendthrift provisions of the trust, as they apply to children and to grandchildren, are perfectly enforceable and realistic.

On the other hand, if any amount or benefit, as a matter of right is payable to Mrs. Anderson, then such amount, when payable, could be subject to the claims of a creditor of Mrs. Anderson as the law prohibits enforcement of a spendthrift provision in relation to the person creating the trust. In this case, Mrs. Anderson had no right to demand any funds. The method and amount of payment is completely discretionary with the trustee who can pay the same for her benefit or to her as it, in its sole discretion, determines.

POINT IV

THE PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM IS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

This trust was created on November 12, 1968. The promissory note that gave rise to the action in this case was dated April 15, 1969. The plaintiff's action to set aside the trust was filed March 27, 1972, which is more than three (3) years after the date of the creation of the trust.

The applicable statute of limitations is 78-12-26:

“(4) An action for a liability created by the statutes of this state, other than for a penalty or forfeiture under the laws of this state, except where in special cases a different limitation is prescribed by the statutes of this state.”

Since the plaintiff's claim for relief in this action is based on the Utah statute (25-1-11 UCA) and since there is no tolling provision of the statute, this cause of action by the plaintiff is barred. It is interesting to note that in the prior two subsections (2) (3), the legislature has deemed it provident to include tolling provisions that defer the running of the statute until a party obtains knowledge of the claimed violation of the statute. There is no tolling provision in subsection (4)!

The primary assets of the trust in this case consist of real estate which was immediately transferred to the

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