2001

John Leach v. Norma B. Anderson and Valley Bank and Trust Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

AS TO THE PERSONAL PROPERTY THEREIN, THE ANDERSON TRUST IS VOID AS TO RESPONDENT AS A CREDITOR UNDER SECTION 25-1-11 U.C.A.

The District Court held that as to personal property in the Anderson Trust, the Trust Agreement was void as to respondent as a creditor of the grantor under Section 25-1-11 U.C.A., which follows:

“Trust for grantor void - All deeds, gifts, conveyances, transfers or assignments, verbal or written, of goods, chattels, or things in action made in trust for the use of the person making the same shall be void as against the existing or subsequent creditors of such person.”

This statute is a part of the Fraudulent Conveyance Act, Title 25, Chapter 1, UCA 1953, and it supplements the preceding sections of the act. Its purpose is to spell out protection for creditors of the grantor who has used the more devious route of debt avoidance by means of a trust. The title of the section is “Trust *for* Grantor Void”, and it is aimed expressly at the “trust for the use of the person making the same”. It makes such trusts void as to existing and subsequent creditors as to personal property in the trusts.

Section 25-1-11 UCA is a codification of the general principles of law as to trusts created for the benefit of the grantor. 93 ALR 1211. Protection of creditors, existing and subsequent, is the prime concern of the stat-

ute, and proof of fraudulent intent, insolvency or discretion in trustee are immaterial.

Scott on Trusts, Vol. 11, Sec. 156, p. 1092 states: "It is against public policy to permit a man to tie up his own property in such a way that he can still enjoy it but can prevent his creditors from reaching it." *Scott*, p. 1094, specifically cites Sec. 25-1-11 UCA as a statutory embodiment of this general principle. The Anderson trust is in fact restated by *Scott* at Sec. 156.2, p. 1099:

"Where by the terms of the trust the trustee is to pay the settlor as much of the income and principal as the trustee may in his absolute discretion determine, and as to any income and principal not so paid there is a gift over to such persons as the settlor may appoint and in default of appointment to the settlor's estate, his creditors can reach the whole of the trust property. (Citing *Cooke Trust Co. Ltd. v. Lord*, 41 Hawaii 198 (1955) and *ALI Restatement of Trusts* 2d, Sec. 156). Clearly the policy which prevents a person from creating a spendthrift trust for his own benefit also prevents him from depriving his creditors of a right to reach the trust property by creating a discretionary trust."

Appellants have argued that the Anderson Trust created vested interests in children and grandchildren and that those interests should be superior to and insulated from the claims of creditors of Mrs. Anderson. Sec. 25-1-11 UCA looks solely at the grantor's lifetime benefits and use of trust property, and disposition on death of grantor is immaterial under the statute. In any event, under the Anderson Trust, the grantor re-

tained the option to vary final disposition by the provisions of Paragraph VI of the Trust Agreement (R.92). There on sale of family stocks, as approved by the grantor, the grantor could then determine whether the sale proceeds should go to one or another of different classes of beneficiaries. Under this provision there could be no vesting of any interest since the Grantor retained a future option.

Defendants have cited *DiMaria v. Bank of California*, 23 Cal. App. 2d 254, 46 Cal. Rptr. 924, (1965) as a case on all fours with the Anderson Trust because of a weak grantor with a profligate child in each situation. The *DiMaria* case was an attempt by a creditor, who had been the attorney of the grantor, Mrs. Walton, in an unsuccessful action by the grantor to avoid her irrevocable trust, to reach trust assets for payment of his fee. No statute such as Sec. 25-1-11 UCA was involved and no spendthrift clause was in the Walton Trust. The California court allowed *DiMaria*, the creditor, to reassert his claims on a proper showing of discretionary powers in the Trustee. The court, in fact, reasserted the law regarding grantor's benefit trusts as set out in *Greenwich Trust Co. vs. Tyson*, *infra*, and Sec. 156, *ALI Restatement of Trusts* 2nd, *infra*, saying:

“Under these circumstances it is understandable why the court should conclude that the trustee was a mere subterfuge to insure against the unbridled financial demands of the settlor and at the same time insulate his estate against the just claims of creditors.”

Vesting was not at issue or involved in the *DiMaria* case.

Sec. 21-1-11 UCA is crystal clear in its language and meaning. Respondent is a subsequent creditor, and under the statute he should be able to reach trust assets to the extent of the personal property included.

POINT II

THE TRUST AGREEMENT PROVIDES FOR THE PRIMARY USE AND BENEFIT OF THE GRANTOR

The Trust Agreement gives the grantor full lifetime benefits from the trust property. The instrument speaks for itself.

The following clear cut benefits and uses for Norma Anderson, the grantor, of the trust estate are set out in the following cited paragraphs of the Trust Agreement (R.88-97).

1. Paragraph II. "Trustee shall pay to or for the benefit of the Grantor such portions of the income and principal of this trust as may be necessary to maintain the grantor in a reasonable standard of living after taking into consideration other income received by the grantor. In determining the standard of living to be maintained, the Trustee shall use as a rule of guide the standard of living of the grantor of the date of the execution of this agreement." (R.88).

2. Paragraph II. "Trustee shall provide for a new automobile for the grantor approximately every two or

three years, and then *only on the request of the grantor.*" (Emphasis ours) (R.88).

3. Paragraph II. "Trustee shall further provide for vacations for the grantor and a companion to be selected by the grantor." (R.88).

4. Paragraph II. "Trustee shall provide sufficient funds to maintain grantor's home." (R.88).

5. Paragraph II. "With relation to the home of Grantor, the Trustee shall sell said home at such time as *requested to sell by the grantor* and thereafter provide for the grantor reasonable accommodations after taking into consideration grantor's health and the degree of care that may be required to maintain her in a comfortable and reasonable standard. Distributions shall be made from time to time as trustee deems provident, but not less frequently than quarterly." (Emphasis ours) (R.88).

6. Paragraph VI. "The trustee shall retain grantor's family home *until Grantor shall indicate* that she no longer desires to live in the same or until it would be provident in Trustee's sole discretion to remove grantor permanently from the home and place her in surroundings where proper care can be administered." (Emphasis ours) (R.92).

7. Paragraph VI. The Trustee shall retain as investments stock in Chuck Wagon Corporations and Anderson Enterprises, Inc., in which corporations Norma Anderson has admitted to have owned controlling in-

terests. If it becomes necessary to liquidate either of those shares “the trustee shall so advise grantor and sell the same *if grantor approves* of the sales terms.” (Emphasis ours) (R.92)

8. Paragraph VI. On sale of Chuck Wagon or Anderson Enterprises stock by trustee, the proceeds of sale will become a part of the residue of the trust estate, which would be distributed on Mrs. Anderson’s death to her grandson and her daughter under Paragraph IV(5) and (6) of the Trust Agreement (R.92). But, Mrs. Anderson may indicate that the sale proceeds shall be substituted for the assets sold and ultimately distributed to the different distributees who would have received those shares of stock under Paragraph IV (3), (4), (5) and (6) of the Trust Agreement (R.92). In other words, Mrs. Anderson can vary at a future time the testamentary disposition of the trust assets.

9. Paragraph VI. “So long as reasonably provident, Trustee shall vote stock held by it so as to maintain grantor as an officer, director and employee of Anderson Enterprises, Inc., and Andy’s Chuck Wagon Corporation and related corporations.” (R.92).

10. Paragraph VII-9. Grantor may appoint a successor trustee upon Valley Bank’s resignation (R.93).

11. Paragraph VIII. The Spendthrift provision provides “No payment or share of the Grantor or any ‘Beneficiary’ shall in any manner be liable to the creditors thereof or subject to legal process, and the Trustee is

directed in all events to make payments directly to grantor or Beneficiary or for their benefit." (R.94).

We submit that under the Trust Agreement grantor has every lifetime use and benefit from the trust property that she had before creating the trust, plus the protective and prudent hand of the trustee to guide her in her continuing business enterprises. Her high standard of living and enjoyment is directed to be continued by the trustee. She has continuing control of the family corporation affairs (R.171), including receipt of a generous salary from those corporations. (R.159-161). She has retained an option as to choice of the ultimate beneficiaries on her death, in the event of liquidation of stocks; thus there was no possible vesting of those interests. All of these uses and benefits of the trust assets are retained in Mrs. Anderson at the expense of her creditors, existing and subsequent, by way of the spendthrift provision (R.94). No other beneficiaries can have any uses or benefits until Mrs. Anderson's death.

Appellants argue that the trustee has discretions as to payments or benefits to be made to Norma Anderson. However, appellants ignore the fact that the trustee is bound to consider and honor the matters for decision as retained by the grantor, namely, (1) request for a new automobile, (2) request to sell her residence, (3) change her place of residence, (4) her approval of sales of family stocks, and (5) her variance of disposition on her death of proceeds of sales of stocks. The trustee is directed to maintain the grantor in the same standard

of living as at the time of the creation of the trust. There was no real change in her enjoyment or the use of her properties.

POINT III

THE TRUST HAS, IN FACT, OPERATED FOR THE PRIMARY USE AND BENEFIT OF THE GRANTOR.

Testimony of Mrs. Anderson and Rex Guymon, Valley Bank trust officer, showed that the following disbursements have been made to or for the use and benefit of Norma Anderson:

1. \$1,000.00 paid to Norma Anderson for her attorney's fee (R.176).
2. \$5,000.00 paid to Norma Anderson to pay a debt and to protect her interest in Chuck Wagon stock (R.176).
3. \$500.00 paid to Norma Anderson to buy a new automobile (R.177,182).
4. Payment by trustee of taxes (R.181-182), insurance and other expenses of maintenance, improvements (R.184) and mortgage payments (R.181-182) on the personal residence of Norma Anderson at 1050 Millbert Avenue (R.82).
5. Mrs. Anderson has continued to have free use of her residence at 1050 Millbert Avenue. (R.183).
6. A salary of between \$1,000.00 and \$1,200.00 per month has been paid directly to Norma Anderson by

Andy's Enterprises, one of the corporations controlled by the trustee (R.161).

An objective full view of the trust certainly shows that its purpose was to give the grantor all of the benefits and uses of the trust property that she had before its creation. She has, in fact, used the residence by continuing to live there, with the trustee paying all expenses of its maintenance. She has continued to have all of the use of the family stocks by her personal control and salary provision, as provided in the Trust Agreement. She has all of the continuing uses and benefits during her lifetime. "Use", "benefit" and "advantage" are shown as synonyms in *Websters Third International Dictionary*. Mrs. Anderson in addition was protected from the demands and indiscretions of her son, David, and from the rights of her creditors, existing and subsequent.

We submit that Section 25-1-11 UCA in being entitled "Trust for Grantor" and in pointing at a "trust for the use of the person making the same" refers to "use" as in the definition in *Black's Law Dictionary*, 3rd Edition, p.1788:

"The 'use' of a thing means that one is to enjoy, hold, occupy, or have some manner of benefit thereof. Use also means usefulness, advantage, productive of benefit."

POINT IV

BECAUSE OF ITS SPECIFIC SPEND-
THRIFT PROVISION, THE TRUST IS VOID
AS TO RESPONDENT AS A CREDITOR
OF THE GRANTOR

The Anderson Trust Agreement specifically insulates Mrs. Anderson and the trust property from her creditors, past, present and future, with the following provision:

“VIII. Spendthrift Provision. Neither Grantor nor any ‘Beneficiary’ of this trust shall have the power to anticipate, transfer, sell, assign or encumber any payment, distribution or interest in this trust, and any attempt to so do shall be void and ineffective. No payment or share of the Grantor or any ‘Beneficiary’ shall in any manner be liable to the creditors thereof or subject to legal process, and the Trustee is directed in all events to make payments directly to the Grantor or ‘Beneficiary’ or for their benefit.” (R.94).

The law is clear and public policy is firmly opposed to the possibility of the beneficial owner of property placing that property beyond the reach of his creditors. A spendthrift trust for the benefit of the grantor himself is uniformly held entirely illegal, and the creditors can reach all of the trust property. 37 *Am.Jur* 2d 720, Sec.27.

The general rule is stated at 89 C.J.S. 745, Section 26:

“A spendthrift trust for the benefit of the donor, during life, is invalid, both as to past and future creditors, (citing *Nelson v. California Trust Co.*, and *Greenwich Trust Co. v. Tyson*, 129 Conn. 211, 27 A2d 166 (1949), even though there is a provision for a contingent remainder in a third person.”

Following are general statements of the rule:

“A man cannot put his own property beyond the reach of creditors and at the same time reserve substantial interests in it or control over it.” *Griswold, Spendthrift Trusts*, p.543.

“The cases are uniform in holding that quite apart from statute, a person cannot create a spendthrift trust for himself which shall be effective against the rights of his subsequent creditors.” 44 *Harvard Law Review* 205 (Erwin Griswold).

“Even in jurisdictions in which spendthrift trusts are permitted, the settlor cannot create a spendthrift trust for his own benefit. It is immaterial that in creating the trust the settlor did not intend to defraud his creditors. It is immaterial that he was solvent at the time of creation of the trust.” *Scott on Trusts*, Vol. II, Sec. 156, p. 1092.

Bogert, Trusts and Trustees, (2d Ed.), Sec. 223, at p. 665, states: “If a settlor creates a trust for his own benefit and inserts a spendthrift clause, it is void as far as then existing or future creditors are concerned, and they can reach his interest under the trust.” Cited are

McColgan v. Walter Magee, Inc. and *State ex rel. v. Nashville Trust Co.*, both *infra*; also, *Spring Street Corp. v. Walsh*, 101 P.2d 783 (Calif., 1940).

The above general statements of the law and public policy are followed in many cases set out in the notes to 119 ALR 35 and 34 ALR 2d 1342. The cases cited uniformly hold that the grantor cannot by a direction to the trustee avoid or hinder his own creditors by a provision as in the Anderson Trust.

Nelson v. California Trust Co., 33 Cal.2d 501, 202 P.2d 1021 (1949), is a case on all fours with the Anderson Trust. The judgment creditor sought to reach the assets of a spendthrift trust created by his judgment debtor. The debtor contended that he had no interest in the property except to receive the net income and that the creditor was in no better position than he was. The California court held that all of the trust property was subject to the claim of the creditor, and it said:

“It is against public policy to permit a man to tie up his property in such a way that he can enjoy it but prevent his creditors from reaching it, and where the settlor makes himself a beneficiary of a trust any restraints in the instrument on the involuntary alienation of his interest are invalid and ineffective.”

Cited with approval in the *Nelson* case is *McColgan v. Walker Magee, Inc.*, 172 Cal. 182, 155 P. 995 (1916), where the California court held that a spendthrift trust attempted to be created in the settlor's own favor is invalid, even though he had no fraudulent intent toward

his creditors. See also *In re Camm's Estate*, 76 Cal. App. 2d 104, 172 P.2d 547 (1946), and *In State ex. rel. Caldwell v. Nashville Trust Co.* 23 Tenn. App. 388, 190 SW 2d 785 (1944). The Tennessee court distinguished a spendthrift trust for the benefit of third parties from a trust for the benefit of the grantor, saying:

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